1990

Johnson-Bowles Company, Inc., Marlen V. Johnson
v. John C. Baldwin, M. Truman Bowler, Kent
Burgon, David Hardy, Margaret Wickens, Keith
Cannon : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j), as amended, 1990.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court erred in not reinstating its October 27, 1989, Extraordinary Writ and Order which compelled all Appellees to grant and otherwise resolve the issues presented in Appellants' Requests for Agency Review. (See Exhibits "B", "C", "E", "U", and "V", Appendix hereto.)

2. Whether Appellants had the right to seek and obtain an Extraordinary Writ and Order under Rule 65B from the district court -- one which should not have later been secretly set aside under Rule 7(b)(2), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, without either notice to Appellants or an opportunity to be heard. (Exhibit "R", App. hereto.)

3. Whether a Utah district court has the power and authority to compel the Securities Division, a Utah government agency, to abide by its own agency rules and the UAPA.

4. Whether Appellees committed contempt of the district court by ignoring its Extraordinary Writ and Order on October 30, 1989, and hurriedly issuing an Order on Agency Review in violation thereof. If so, whether there is any relief or remedy presently available to Appellants for Appellees' contempt of the district court. (See Exhibits "E" and "H", App. hereto.)

5. Whether it is Constitutional for Securities Division Director John C. Baldwin to exercise investigatory and prosecutorial powers and, at the same, render judicial functions (as "presiding officer") by unilaterally, arbitrarily, hastily, and capriciously denying, on October 30, 1989, Appellants' Requests for Agency Review under §12, UAPA. (See Exhibits "D", "O", "H" and "I", Appendix hereto.) If such is unconstitutional, whether the district court erred in not dismissing the Division's amended petitions. (See Exhibit "S", App. hereto.)

6. Whether the Securities Advisory Board, which was not engaged in investigatory and prosecutorial functions like Appellee Baldwin, should have acted as the "presiding officer" under §12 of the UAPA as opposed to Appellee Baldwin alone. In other words, did Baldwin (or the Division) commit contempt of the district court or otherwise violate the lower court's Writ and Order by unilaterally acting as "presiding officer" on October 30, 1989. (See Exhibits "E", "F", and "H", App. hereto.)

7. Whether §12 of the UAPA only contemplates "final agency action" as specifically provided in §14 of the UAPA, especially when neither §12 nor the corollary rule say such on their face. Whether §12 is identical to §14, UAPA, and therefore statutorily superfluous.

8. Whether Appellants have any remedy or relief presently available to them for the Appellees' violations of §12, UAPA, and the Department of Commerce corollary rule.

9. Whether it is Constitutional for Appellee Baldwin to continue to act as judge (i.e., agency director and "presiding officer") for purposes of reviewing any "final agency action" in this case. In other words, whether it is just and fair for "presiding officer" Baldwin to "sign off" on, modify, or approve the ultimate findings of the Securities Advisory Board in the on-going administrative adjudicative proceedings. Whether someone unbiased and impartial (i.e., someone other than any of the Appellees) should act as "presiding officer" in the administrative adjudicative proceedings after October 30, 1989.

10. Whether it is inherently prejudicial or unconstitutional for the prosecutor, the judge(s), jury, and executioners to be represented by the same counsel (i.e., the Attorney General) at the same time in the same administrative proceeding. If so, whether there is any remedy or relief presently available to Appellants for such blatant conflict of interest.

11. Whether the Utah Securities Division has power and authority to enforce regulation against Appellants which is diametrically inconsistent with existing federal law, specifically, Appellants' contrary legal obligations under Article III, §1, NASD Rules of Fair Practice. (See Exhibits "K", "L", and "P", App. hereto.) Whether the NASD Rules of Fair Practice, in light of Utah Code Ann. §61-1-27, preempt Utah Code Ann. §61-1-6(1)(g) under the highly unusual facts and

circumstances of this case. If so, whether the administrative adjudicate proceedings should be dismissed in their entirety.

A. Standard of Review. The standard of review for each of the foregoing issues is simply whether the district court incorrectly applied the law or otherwise abused its discretion.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The due process provisions of the federal Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Utah, are determinative of this case. Specific reference is also made to the U.S. Supreme Court case of Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 43 L.Ed.2d 712, 95 S.Ct. 1456 (1975), a significant administrative law decision which does not appear to have been cited in any previous Utah decision. This case also involves issues of federal preemption and reference is made to Point IV below, including this Court's decision in Western Capital & Securities, Inc. v. Kundsvig, 779 P.2d 688, 113 Utah Adv. Rep. 53, (Ut. Ct. of App. February 7, 1989) [1989 Transfer Binder] Fed.Sec.L.Rep.(CCH) ¶94,337. Finally, Appellee Baldwin and the Attorney General's inherent (and continuing) conflicts of interest in the administrative proceedings relating to this appeal are issues having Constitutional implications.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(a) Nature of the case. This case is one of first impression in Utah; it involves an interpretation of Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-12 (the "UAPA") and the corollary rule promulgated

by the Department of Commerce. It further involves a determination as to whether Appellants' Constitutional rights were and are being violated by Appellees, thereby justifying complete dismissal of the administrative adjudicative proceedings. This case also involves a determination as to whether Appellees' violation of §12, UAPA, have prejudiced and otherwise violated Appellants' Constitutional rights to the extent of further justifying either dismissal of the existing administrative adjudicative proceedings or other comparable relief such as a new administrative trial before impartial judges.

The Appellees have also raised issues as to whether the district court has jurisdiction to have heard Appellants' Petition for Extraordinary Writ. Thus, an additional issue is whether the district court erred in deciding -- after the fact -- that it lacked jurisdiction to compel Appellees not to act capriciously and arbitrarily with respect to Appellants. Finally, the most significant issue in these proceedings is whether the Division has jurisdiction to have brought the administrative adjudicative proceedings at all -- proceedings entirely inconsistent, on their face, with Appellants' federal obligations under Art. III, §1 of the NASD Rules of Fair Practice. (See Exhibits "J", "K", and "S", App. hereto.)

(b) Course of proceedings. Based on the district court's failure to reinstate its October 27, 1989, Extraordinary

Writ and Order, the administrative adjudicative proceedings have continued in violation of Appellants' Constitutional rights.¹ For example, on July 16, 1990, after nearly 1½ years of relentless litigation, an administrative trial was held before the Securities Advisory Board. No ruling as a result of such hearing has been rendered to date. Yet the continuation of such administrative adjudicative proceedings after October 27, 1989, has been at great and substantial expense and damage to Appellants and had the district court and the ALJ not erred, such unlawful proceedings would not have continued.

RELEVANT FACTS

In April 1989, the Utah Division of Securities ("Division") filed administrative adjudicative proceedings against Appellants seeking to revoke or suspend their securities brokerage licenses under Utah Code Ann. §61-1-6. Such petitions were amended by the Division in July 1989 to delete one of three causes of action alleged against Appellants. In December 1989, the ALJ, in response to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion of Appellants, dismissed Count II of such amended petitions, a Division allegation that Appellants' conduct violated so-called "suitability rules." This resulted in the amended petitions only stating a claim against Appellants for alleged "dishonest or unethical practices" under §61-1-6(1)(g). (Exhibits "M" and "S",

¹This naturally includes Appellants' Constitutional rights under the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution, Art. I, §8(3) and §8(18).

App. hereto.) In the amended petitions the Division alleges that simply buying securities from persons who lacked Utah exemptions from registration (no matter what the purpose) was a "dishonest or unethical practice" on the part of the buyers (i.e., Respondents). Because the Division's proceedings are legally and logically inconsistent with Appellants' Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. ("NASD") obligations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and, because such are further inconsistent with a previous February 28, 1989, Order of U.S. District Judge J. Thomas Greene compelling Appellants to honor outstanding NASD contracts [R. 63; page 4, ¶10, Exhibit "T" and R. 33-34; p. 8-9, ¶'s 15 and 16, Exhibit "J", App. hereto], Appellants filed a Rule 12(b)(1) Motion to Dismiss the Division's amended petitions. In such Motion, Appellants argued before the ALJ that the Division lacked jurisdiction to discipline them simply for complying with their obligations under federal law. Specifically, Appellants argued that the Division's amended petitions were repugnant to federal securities law as exclusively reserved to District Courts of the United States under §27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. §78aa. In other words, Article III, §1 of the NASD Rules of Fair Practice -- which are, in turn, exclusively governed under §19(c) of the Exchange Act [Exhibit "K", App. hereto] -- compels a broker-dealer to honor trades, whereas the Division's amended petitions sought to discipline

Appellants -- at the same time -- merely for honoring the very same trades. (See In re: Shaskan & Co., Inc., SEC Docket 775 (May 28, 1976) and Friedman & Co., 45 SEC 393 (1973), both holding that broker-dealers can be disciplined and their licenses revoked under the NASD Rules of Fair Practice for failing to honor trades.) Simply put, the Division sought to discipline Appellants for doing something they were required to do under federal law (i.e., honoring outstanding NASD contracts previously entered into in interstate commerce with fellow out-of-state NASD member securities broker-dealers). (See Exhibit "J" and "Q", App. hereto.) As a result, Appellants are now being severely punished and otherwise placed in the impossible position of having had to comply at the same time with antithetical and diametrically conflicting regulation on the part of the NASD, on the one hand, and the Division, on the other. [Emphasis added.] Significantly, this preemption principle (i.e., that federal securities law supersedes state blue sky law (more especially with respect to broker-dealer regulation)) is specifically incorporated into Utah law in Utah Code Ann. §61-1-27. (See Exhibit "N", App. hereto.) This statute requires that the Utah Uniform Securities Act be interpreted in uniformity and consistently with federal law, of which the NASD Rules of Fair Practice necessarily have the same force and effect. (See, e.g., Exhibit "L", App. hereto and this Court's decision in Western Capital, supra.) With regard to this

*argument, specific reference is made to pages 28-36 of the Record, Appellants' "Statement of Material Facts" in their Brief Supporting Agency Review.*² (Exhibit "J", App. hereto.)

The Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") denied Appellants' Rule 12(b)(1) Motion on August 29, 1989. (R. 72-76; Exhibit "A", App. hereto.) As a result, on September 11, 1989, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-12, including the corollary Department of Commerce Rule, Appellants timely filed a Request for Agency Review of that order. (R. 8-12; Exhibit "B", App. hereto.) Appellants further filed, alternatively, a Request for *Certification of the ALJ's August 29, Order as a "final agency action"*. (R. 19-20; Exhibit "C", App. hereto.) Obviously, if the Division either lacks jurisdiction or its action is preempted as contemplated in Western Capital, there is no legal basis for the existence of such administrative adjudicative proceedings. Thus, Appellants' §12, UAPA, Request for Agency Review and alternative Request for Certification were more than reasonable under the circumstances.

Between September 11, and October 27, 1989, Petitioners heard nothing from the Division relative to such Requests as specifically required of the Division under Department of

²Reference is further made to Exhibits "P" and "Q", Appendix hereto, copies of pertinent parts of §15A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which exclusively governs self-regulatory securities organizations such as the NASD and, Securities Exchange Act Release No. 34-7920, July 19, 1966, 31 F.R. 10076, an SEC policy statement permitting consummation of securities transactions by broker-dealers when trading in a security is suspended. This latter authority further confirms that the Division's amended petitions are inconsistent on their face with federal law and policy. See Point IV below.

Commerce R151-46b-12. (R. 139, 163, 193-194; Exhibit "D", App. hereto.) Because an Order on Review was never issued as required under the Rule, Appellants, on October 27, 1989, filed an Ex Parte Petition for Extraordinary Writ in the Third Judicial District Court and obtained, on that same date, an Extraordinary Writ and Order directing the Respondents/Appellees to comply with the Division's own rules and either (1) grant the Appellants' Request for Agency Review and resolve all issues therein, or (2) certify the ALJ's August 29, 1989, Order as a "final agency action". (R. 91-92; Exhibit "E", App. hereto.) Such Order and Writ were served on each Appellee named herein no later than October 30, 1989, and in fact, 4 of the 5 Appellee/Securities Advisory Board Members were served by hand-delivery on October 27, 1989. (R. 93-94; Exhibit "F", App. hereto.)

On November 1, 1989, Appellees -- in apparent reliance on Rule 7(b)(2), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure -- secretly filed their own Ex Parte Counter-Petition with the district court and, without any notice to Appellants or their counsel, secretly induced the district court ex parte (and for reasons wholly unknown) to set aside its previously-entered Writ and Order of October 27, 1989. (R. 103-104; Exhibit "G", App. hereto.)³ The Appellees' Counter-Petition, was then served on Appellants'

³This gives rise to another issue: If the Securities Advisory Board is and would be acting as Appellants' judge and jury after October 30, 1989 -- which they did on July 16, 1990 -- how can the Securities Advisory Board members, in light of what has occurred herein, be able to act as impartial judges and jurors?

counsel the following day, namely, November 2, or, six (6) days after 4 of the named-Appellees were personally served with the district court's Writ and Order. In such Ex Parte Counter-Petition, Appellees boldly argue that the district court lacks jurisdiction to force Appellees to comply with the very rules governing the Division. (R. 105-112.) As per such Ex Parte Counter-Petition, the Appellees further acknowledge that they received and were all on actual notice of the district court's October 27, 1989, Extraordinary Writ and Order by as early as October 30, 1989. Furthermore, the Appellees admit that on October 30, Appellee Baldwin, as "presiding officer" and in contempt of the same Writ and Order, hurriedly fashioned an Order On Agency Review dated October 30, 1989, an Order which unilaterally denied Appellants' Requests in all particulars. (R. 114-118, Ex. "H", App. hereto.) It is thus undisputed that the Appellees not only violated the district court's Order and Writ of October 27, but it is further undisputed that the Appellee Baldwin unilaterally deprived the entire Securities Advisory Board, certain named-Appellees herein, from participating in Baldwin's unilateral, arbitrary and capricious decision, all of which was contemptuous of the district court's October 27, Order and Writ compelling the contrary. (Exhibit "E", App. hereto.) It is thus further undisputed that Appellee Baldwin acted, has acted and will continue to act as "presiding officer", prosecutor, investigator, judge, jury and executioner

relative to the administrative proceedings direly affecting Appellants' livelihoods. This is because Mr. Baldwin not only signed the Order on Agency Review (acting as judge) but he also personally signed the Division's Motion to Convert the administrative proceedings from informal to formal (thereby also acting as prosecutor). (See Exhibits "H" and "I" in Appendix hereto, copies of Mr. Baldwin's remarkably convenient albeit contemptuous October 30, 1989, Order on Agency Review and his own Motion to Convert filed in the administrative adjudicative proceedings, respectively.) The foregoing is also not to ignore that Division Director Baldwin will continue to act as "presiding officer" (judge) in the remaining disposition of the administrative adjudicative proceedings. (See Exhibit "O", App. hereto.)

On November 2, 1989, Appellants, as petitioners in the district court action, having had the rug surreptitiously pulled out from under them, filed a Motion to Reinstate the district court's October 27, 1989, Extraordinary Writ and Order. (R. 144-145; Exhibit "U", App. hereto.) For reasons completely unknown, such was denied by the district court on January 23, 1990. It can thus only be assumed that the district court denied Appellants' Motion to Reinstate because it subscribed to Appellees' erroneous argument that it lacks jurisdiction to have issued the October 27, Extraordinary Writ and Order in the first instance. On February 15, 1990, the district court certified its

January 23, 1990, ruling for appeal under Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and this appeal has ensued. (R. 201-202; Exhibit "V", App. hereto.)

Based on the Appellees' intentional failure to honor the district court's Writ and Order, including Director Baldwin's obvious bias, conflict of interest, and failure to abide by his agency's own administrative rules, the administrative proceedings which pertain to this appeal have remained on-going for well over one (1) year at great and unjustified expense and damage to Appellants and their business and reputations. In fact, as a result of such unlawful and vicious proceedings, Appellant Johnson-Bowles Company, Inc. has lost substantial income and has recently filed the necessary state and federal broker-dealer withdrawal forms ("BDW Forms") to cease doing business as a securities broker-dealer. As a direct consequence of the Division's amended petitions and the endless administrative adjudicative proceedings initiated by the Division to destroy it, Johnson-Bowles is now out-of-business.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Reference is made to Appellants' Conclusion below.

DETAIL OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT HAS POWER AND AUTHORITY TO HAVE ISSUED THE EXTRAORDINARY WRIT AND ORDER OF OCTOBER 27, 1989, AND IT FURTHER HAS POWER AND AUTHORITY TO COMPEL A STATE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY TO ABIDE BY ITS OWN RULES, INCLUDING THE UAPA.

The lower court erroneously determined that under Rule 65B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and the UAPA, it lacks jurisdiction to have issued its Extraordinary Writ and Order on October 27, 1989. (See Exhibits "D", "O", "R", "G", and "V", App. hereto.) This is not the law: The Utah Division of Securities is clearly an inferior tribunal or board of the Third Judicial District Court. Furthermore, there can be no dispute that the Division's director or its officers exercise judicial functions as contemplated in Rule 65B. Were the Division and its officers not engaged in judicial functions, both the on-going administrative adjudicative proceedings presently undertaken against Appellants and this very appeal would not exist. The Appellees unfortunately convinced the lower court that the Securities Division is only subject to direct regulation by the Utah Court of Appeals and that a Utah court of general jurisdiction has no authority or power over it in any respect or capacity. (R. 153-161.) The Division's arrogant and brazen belief is exemplified by the fact that it admits notice of the district court's October 27, 1989, Extraordinary Writ and Order, only to have had Appellee Baldwin hurriedly "hammer out" an October 30, Order on Agency Review in complete contempt thereof and only in an effort to fraudulently and disingenuously render the district court's Extraordinary Writ and Order moot. In their lower court memorandum, the Appellees quote §16 of the UAPA and §§78-2a-3, 78-3-4(5), Utah Code Ann., for the proposition that a

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