1990

Johnson-Bowles Company Inc., and Marlen  
Johnson v. John C. Baldwin, M. Truman Bolwer,  
Kent Burgon, David Hardy, Margaret Wickens, and  
Keith Cannon : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The Securities Division has discretion in determining whether to give agency review to Johnson-Bowles' claims. Section 12 of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act dictates the procedure for agency review. While the language of Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12 allows a party to "seek review of an order by the agency," this does not mean that all orders are immediately reviewable under that section. "Order" in the section means "final order" by the agency head or one authorized to make such an order. Under the Utah Uniform Securities Act, only the Director of the Division, with the consent of the Advisory Board, may enter an order affecting the status of one of its registrants. The ALJ makes only recommended findings and recommended orders to the Division. These do not become orders of the Division unless they are adopted under Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-6.

Furthermore, the ALJ's denial of a motion to dismiss is also not an "order" as contemplated by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12. A party wishing to dismiss a suspension/revocation proceeding has no right of immediate interlocutory appeal for administrative

review to the agency. If all litigants had an unfettered right to interlocutory appeals, then parties could cripple the administrative process by appealing at every stage of the proceedings.

This case is not properly before the court because there is no "order" to which the party can request review. The ALJ's denial of the motion to dismiss was subject only to discretionary review by the Division because the ALJ had not submitted a final recommendation. Because this was a formal adjudicative proceeding, initial judicial review of the interlocutory proceeding, if available at all, would have only been proper before the Court of Appeals. And, even though jurisdiction might have been proper in the Court of Appeals, there are valid policy reasons for leaving review of ALJ interlocutory recommendations to the discretion of the agency head.

The question of whether this court should order the lower court to reinstate the Extraordinary Writ is now moot owing to the Division's entry of its final order on August 13, 1990.

Finally, Rule 33 damages are appropriate. The issues Johnson-Bowles sought to raise below were not ripe for review. The entry of the Extraordinary Writ was predicated upon erroneous information provided by Johnson-Bowles ex parte. When the court below was adequately apprised of the true facts, law and governing rules, the court appropriately set aside its order and rightly refused to reinstate. The appeal is frivolous because it lacks any substantive foundation in fact or law and the issue it deals with, whether this court should order the lower court to

reinstate its order is entirely moot at this point in these proceedings.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. A Judge Has Discretion in Determining Whether a Writ of Mandamus Should Issue, and Writs of Mandamus Do Not Issue Where the Government Entity has Discretion to Act**

#### **A. Standard of Review**

A judge has discretion to grant or deny extraordinary writs of mandamus, and the decision will be sustained unless there is an abuse of that discretion. Garcia v. South Tucson, 135 Ariz. 604, 663 P.2d 596, 598 (Ct. App. 1983); Cain v. Dept. of Health, 582 P.2d 332, 334 (Mont. 1978). Therefore, this Court should uphold Judge Sawaya's decision not to reinstate the extraordinary writ unless this Court finds such action is an abuse of discretion.

#### **B. The District Court Lacked Equity Jurisdiction Because Johnson-Bowles Had Not Exhausted its Administrative Remedies**

As its name indicates, an extraordinary writ does not issue in ordinary circumstances. Mandamus, therefore, should not issue before the exhaustion of administrative remedies, in the ordinary course of administrative proceedings. Levie v. Sevier County, 617 P.2d 331, 332 n.1 (Utah 1980). A party cannot expect a trial court to exercise equity jurisdiction when that party has failed to pursue adequate and available administrative remedies. All Purpose Vending, Inc. v. Philadelphia, 561 A.2d 1309, 1311 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1989). Additionally, a writ cannot be used as an alternative way to appeal administrative decisions. Merrihew v. Salt Lake County Planning, 659 P.2d 1065, 1067 (Utah 1983).

In Merrihew v. Salt Lake County, the Planning Commission revoked Merrihew's building permit. Merrihew did not appeal the revocation. Instead he asked the District Court for an extraordinary writ to require the Planning Commission to reinstate his permit. On appeal the Utah Supreme Court reaffirmed its position that parties must exhaust administrative remedies as a prerequisite to seeking judicial review. Id. This approach is consistent with the basic principles underlying the writ of mandamus, namely: "[It] is not for the courts to intrude into or interfere with the functions or the policies of other departments of government." Wright Development v. City of Wellsville, 608 P.2d 232, 233 (Utah 1980).

Johnson-Bowles sought reversal of the ALJ's denial of Johnson-Bowles' motion to dismiss. It filed a Request for Agency Review under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12 and Department Rule R151-46b-12. The record demonstrates that while this review process was still under way, Johnson-Bowles sought recourse in state court by asking the court to issue an extraordinary writ to compel the Securities Board or Securities Director to take action on the motion to dismiss. The Record is clear that the last responsive pleading filed in the matter was Johnson-Bowles' Reply, submitted to the Division, October 6, 1990. Even assuming the Securities Division was obligated to review the decision, which obligation was contested in the Division's responsive brief, under Utah Admin. Code R151-46b-12D., the Securities Division had until October 27, 1989 to issue its written order.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> See supra note 3.

However, that was precisely the day that Johnson-Bowles, not willing to wait for the Division's decision, and without notice to the Division, convinced the lower court to issue its writ. Therefore, the Petition for the Extraordinary Writ was an attempt to circumvent the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement and judicial review by going to the courts for a writ of mandamus.

Johnson-Bowles relies heavily on Alcoa v. ICC, 761 F.2d 746 (D.C. Cir. 1985), to support its claim that the proper remedy is a writ of mandamus to the administrative agency. In Alcoa, an administrative law judge with the ICC dismissed a shipper's complaint. Railroad companies appealed the commission's adoption of the ALJ decision. The Interstate Commerce Act required that the ICC make a final decision on the appeal within 180 days.

Alcoa is inapposite to the issues raised in this appeal. First, in Alcoa the ICC fully dismissed the case. A summary disposition of the proceedings is final action. Here, by denying the motion to dismiss, the ALJ continued the proceedings. Second, in Alcoa, a statutory 180-day period was running. Id. at 748. And, by statute, the ALJ's decision in that case became the decision of the ICC when the ICC did not complete its review within the 180-day period. In this case, the ALJ's order at best was of an interlocutory nature, not disposing of the action. Therefore, Appellants' reliance on the Alcoa case is misplaced.

**C. An Extraordinary Writ Should Not Issue to Force a State Agency to Take an Action or Make a Decision that is in Its Discretion**

**1. Mandamus should not direct performance of discretionary duties**

Mandamus should not issue against government agencies to force them to make decisions or to take actions which are within their discretion. Rule 65B(b)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides for the issuance of an extraordinary writ where an officer, exercising judicial functions abuses the discretion of that function. If an act is discretionary, mandamus does not lie. Ingram-Clevenger, Inc. v. Lewis & Clark County, 636 P.2d 1372, 1374 (Mont. 1981). Mandamus should not issue to compel a public official with discretion to act in a certain way. Olson v. Salt Lake City School Dist., 724 P.2d 960, 967 (Utah 1986). Only when a public official has exceeded the boundaries of the discretion may a writ of mandamus be granted. Id. In this case, Appellants did not show at any stage of the proceedings leading to this appeal that the Director had exceeded the boundaries of his discretion, nor could they because, again, the time for the Division to issue its order on review had not run.

**2. The Securities Division has the Discretion to Review the Interlocutory Decisions of Its Administrative Law Judges**

The Utah Administrative Procedures Act, Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-1, et seq. (1989) (hereafter, "UAPA") provides two levels of appeal from an ALJ's decision. Administrative review is through §§ 12 and 13, and judicial review comes via § 14. Judicial review under § 14 is not at issue here, as § 14 deals with review

by a state court of a final agency action. Though the pleadings in the court below are packed with arguments on the merits of Johnson-Bowles' arguments to dismiss, as is its Appellant's Brief, Judge Sawaya was asked to issue a writ, not to review the agency's decision. Sections 12 and 13 do not apply here either because both contemplate final agency action.

**a. Section 12 of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act Only Provides for Review of "Final," not "Interlocutory" Orders.**

Sections 12 and 13 of the UAPA provide for two mutually exclusive means of review at the agency level. Section 12, agency review, governs review of a final order to a higher level within the agency. Section 13, reconsideration, governs review of a final order when there is no higher level within the agency to review the decision.

Section 12 of the UAPA provides a procedure for agency review of a final adjudicative proceeding. However, it is clear that the review is conditional:

If a statute or the agency's rules permit parties to any adjudicative proceeding to seek review of an order by the agency . . . the aggrieved party may file a written request for review. . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12(1)(a) (1989). The Department of Business Regulation has promulgated rules consistent with section 12 which allow a request for agency review. However, the term "order" in this context, does not include an order of the type issued by the ALJ in this case. Though the ALJ employed the term "order" in his ruling, the ruling amounts to a refusal to recommend to the agency head a dismissal of the charges. No



action of the agency is an order of the agency without adoption by the Director and the Securities Advisory Board under Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-6.<sup>7</sup>

A logical construction of the language of the Department's Rules compels this conclusion as well. Utah Admin. Code R151-46b-12B, provides that "the effective date of the previously issued order shall be suspended until ten days after the order on review has been mailed to all parties." This language contemplates only orders which have some effect upon their entry or have an "effective date," i.e., final orders, because the language makes no sense if applied to the type of interlocutory order that is the subject of this dispute. The rule only contemplates orders that have an affirmative "effect" that may be suspended during the course of review and for 10 days thereafter.

The final order of the Division entered on August 13, 1990 contained an effective date. The ALJ's order denying the motion to dismiss did not have an effective date; it merely endorses the status quo and allows the action to go forward, not recommending dismissal of the count in question. Furthermore, it would make little sense to suspend the effectiveness of an order denying a

---

<sup>7</sup> The decision of an agency is not final where the decision maker does not have the power to issue a final decision. This is so even where it appears to be the order of the agency. Ledbetter v. Alcohol Beverage Laws Enforcement, 764 P.2d 172, 182 (Okla. 1988). In Ledbetter, the Director of Alcoholic Beverage Enforcement had only the power to recommend the imposition of fines to the Commission, yet the Director of Alcoholic Beverages' order was titled "Order of the Commission." The Oklahoma Supreme Court held that even though the Commission apparently acquiesced, the Director had no statutory authority to impose fines. Similarly, in the present case, the ALJ only has power to recommend to the Board and Division Director a proposed course of action. See Utah Code Ann. § 61-1-6(1) (1989).

motion. Therefore, the ALJ's order was not an order of the type contemplated by Rule R151-46b-12. And if it is not contemplated by the agency's rule, then Section 12 of the Administrative Procedures Act does not apply by its own terms.

Section 12 says that where the statute or rule permits, agency review is available to the entity that the statute or rule designates for that purpose. Section 61-1-6(1) vests power to suspend or revoke a dealer's license with the director and a majority of the Securities Division. An ALJ has no power to make a final decision. An "order" of the ALJ, therefore, is not an "order" of the agency. It is a recommendation. The Director or the Securities Advisory Board may choose to adopt or to reject the recommendation of the ALJ.<sup>8</sup> Because the administrative law judge acts in an advisory capacity, orders to dismiss or to deny dismissal are not binding upon the Division, not subject to review.

**b. For Policy Reasons, Mandatory Interlocutory Review is Undesirable**

Johnson-Bowles claims "[i]t makes no difference what kind of order is involved in a Request for Agency Review." (Brief 17). It is precisely that view that would lead to the type of

---

<sup>8</sup> In Capital General Corporation v. Dept. of Business Regulation, 777 P.2d 494 (Ut. Ct. App.), cert. denied, 781 P.2d 878 (Utah 1989) this Court reviewed a case in which this "recommending" posture of the ALJ was most evident. In Capital General, the ALJ, after a hearing on the merits, recommended that the Division deny the staff's petition. The matter went to a further evidentiary hearing on the merits before the Securities Advisory Board and the Board rejected the ALJ's position, adopting their own findings and order which were upheld on appeal. Id. at 496.

frivolous interlocutory litigation evident in this appeal. If all orders, and not just final orders, were reviewable, then parties could cripple the administrative process by requesting a review of every ALJ decision.

The major policy reason behind prohibiting all orders from being appealable is administrative economy. In denying the Request for Agency Review of the matter, Securities Division Director John Baldwin stated,

Review of interlocutory matters would necessarily deprive agency adjudicative proceedings of the simplicity and speed contemplated by the Administrative Procedures Act and the rules governing adjudicative proceedings in this Department, and would inappropriately interpose an interlocutory appeal process within the Department.

(R. 116).

Other jurisdictions have made similar pronouncements:

The agency head should be accorded even wider discretion in determining when to review an order on an interlocutory basis. His powers of review are related to his regulatory authority, an executive function, and, consequently, are more expansive and flexible than those of an appellate judge. The agency has the sole authority to decide each case in order to effectuate regulatory policy. The decision is not that of the ALJ, but of the agency head.

In Re Uniform Administrative Procedure Rules, 90 N.J. 85, 447 A.2d 151, 159 (1982).

### **III. Johnson-Bowles' Appeal is Moot**

On August 13, 1990, the Securities Division issued its final order suspending the registration of Johnson and Johnson-Bowles for one year. Johnson-Bowles' appeal from Judge Sawaya's order setting aside of the writ of mandamus is now moot. Even if this Court reinstates the writ of mandamus, the Securities Division has already reviewed and approved the findings, conclusions and

order that was the product of a full hearing before the Securities Advisory Board. Many of the same issues that Appellants argue in their brief were argued before the Advisory Board at hearing. Appellants may argue the same matters in administrative and judicial review of the August 13, 1990 order. Therefore the question of whether this court should command the lower court to reinstate its writ is now moot. There is no current harm that threatens Appellants if that order is not reinstated. In fact, reinstatement at this point will likely lead to duplication of appeals, wasting the resources of both parties.

### III. The District Court Lacked Jurisdiction

The District Court lacked statutory jurisdiction to issue the extraordinary writ requested by the petition. Utah Code Ann. Section 78-2a-3 provides in part:

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